FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

JUN 25 1992

APPEAL NO. 79,667
(DCA CASE NO. 91-01723)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

WALLACE P. HARMON, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of
Patsy P. Williams, deceased

Petitioner

v.

LARRY T. WILLIAMS, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of
R. Virgil Williams, deceased

Respondent

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CONFLICT

CERTIFIED BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Edgar M. Dunn, Jr.
Catherine G. Swain
DUNN, ABRAHAM, SWAIN & DEES
Daytona Beach, Florida 32115
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

STATEMENT OF CASE

Petitioner seeks discretionary review of the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal certified by that court as being in direct conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, pursuant to rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

This is a case in which an attorney for an elderly surviving spouse filed on behalf of the spouse an election to take the statutory elective share of her deceased husband's estate. The circuit court in Pasco County struck the written election, ruling that the election was "defective" because it had been signed only by the attorney of record, and not by the spouse and by her attorney.

On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed with a written dissent, holding that an attorney of record for the surviving spouse had no authority to sign and file, in a probate proceeding, a written election to take the statutory elective share.

The district court's opinion was filed on March 18, 1992, and Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing and suggestions of direct conflict and of questions of great public importance.

On April 27, 1992, the Second District Court denied Petitioner's motion for rehearing, but certified its decision to be in direct conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in In Re: Estate of Schriver, 441 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), which had held that an attorney-in-fact not only had authority to sign a written election, but even had authority to actually exercise the donor-spouse's right to make the election under section 732.210, Florida Statutes. Id. at 1107.

Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction with the district court on April 7, 1992 (R. ___)¹. After the district court certified conflict, Petitioner timely filed an amended notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction with the district court. (R. ___). Thereafter, this court entered an order accepting jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Administration of Husband's Estate

On September 16, 1989, R. Virgil Williams, Jr. ["Decedent"] died at 71 years of age, survived by his elderly spouse, Patsy P. Williams ["Patsy Williams"], and two children, Larry T. Williams and Sally Crumbly. (R. 27). The Decedent's sole devise to Patsy, his wife of some 17 years, was a life estate (measured by her life) in all Florida real property (the homestead) which he owned at his death. (R. 22). He devised the rest of his probate estate to his two children, in equal shares. (R. 22).

The trial court admitted the Decedent's will to probate and appointed his son, Larry Williams, as the sole personal representative [the "Personal Representative"], (R. 28), On November 17, 1989, the Notice of Administration was published. (R. 30). The next day, Gary A. Bloom, Esquire, a Volusia County-based attorney, served a Notice of Appearance, stating that he was appearing as attorney of record for Patsy Williams, as the surviving spouse and as a beneficiary of the Decedent's estate, (R. 76).

¹ The notice was filed in connection with Petitioner's suggestion of direct conflict and suggestion of questions of great public importance filed in the district court.

Patsy Williams' Election to Take Her Elective Share

Shortly after her husband's estate administration began, and before the Inventory was even filed,² Patsy Williams decided that it was in her best interest to elect to take the elective share, as opposed to taking what had been devised to her under her husband's Will. The choice for Patsy Williams, confined in a nursing home and in need of financial support, was clear. She should take the elective share of \$195,000,³ instead of accepting nothing under her husband's patently unfair testamentary scheme.

Accordingly, on December 18, 1989, approximately one month after Notice of Administration was filed, Patsy's attorney executed and timely' filed, on her behalf, a pleading entitled "Notice of Intention to Petition For Elective Share" [the "Written Election"]. The pleading was served on Larry Williams, as the Personal Representative, and on his sister, Sally. The Written Election gave notice that Patsy Williams was "taking" against the Decedent's Will and electing her statutory share of her deceased husband's estate. It stated that Patsy Williams, through her attorney of record, would file a petition to determine (i) the statutory elective share, (ii) the assets from which elective share should be paid, and (iii) the scheduling of the payments. (R. 31). No one filed an objection to the Written

² On April 3, 1990, the estate inventory, which was due to be filed on January 5, 1990, was filed some 88 days late a personal representative is required to file an inventory within sixty (60) days after the issuance of letters, which were issued to the Personal Representative on November 6, 1989. See FPR 5.340(a)).

³ The Inventory showed the value of the Florida estate to be \$650,832. It confirmed that Virgil Williams left no Florida real property from which Patsy Williams could take the life estate devised to her. (R. 36).

⁴ The Written Election was served and filed within the four month period prescribed by section 732.212, Florida Statutes (1989).

Election.⁵

Appointment of Guardian Ad Litem

On November 18, 1989, the **same** day the Written Election was filed, Bloom served an unverified petition for the appointment of guardian ad litem under rule 5.120 of the Florida Probate Rules [the "FPR"]. **The** petition sought the appointment of Wallace B. Harmon (Patsy's son) **as** her guardian ad litem. The petition alleged that Patsy Williams was then residing in a North Carolina nursing home and that she was not capable of assisting and participating in legal proceedings in Florida due to her deteriorated physical and mental condition. No guardianship proceedings were pending involving Patsy, (R. 32-33).

Without a hearing, the trial court appointed Wallace Harmon [the "Guardian Ad Litem"] as her guardian ad litem, on April 16, 1990. (R. 37). The trial court made no findings of fact and made no adjudications regarding Patsy Williams' competency **or** her ability to contract. (R. 37). The order appointing the guardian ad litem simply stated that it was "necessary that the interests of Patsy Williams be represented by a guardian ad litem" (R. 37).

Personal Representative's Motion to Strike

For more than six months after the Written Election had been filed, the Personal Representative did nothing. On June 20, 1990, Larry Williams, **as** the personal representative, moved to strike the Written Election [the "Motion to

⁵ Appellant does not contend that those interested persons have been barred from filing an objection, even at this late date, to Patsy Williams' Written Election. Patsy's Written Election did not follow the "optional procedure" requiring the service by formal notice to all interested persons prescribed under Rule 5.360(a)(1). **The** interested persons may assert **any** grounds that they or either of them may have at the time the Personal Representative or the Appellant goes forward with the adversarial proceeding to determine the elective share.

Strike"] because (i) it did not contain the word "elect", and (ii) Patsy's attorney may not have the authority necessary to make the election. (R. 40-41, 46).

In response to the Motion to Strike, the newly appointed Guardian Ad Litem and his attorney of record executed and filed another written election [the "Second Written Election"] on July 3, 1990. The Second Written Election ratified Patsy's first election of December 18, 1989. (R. 46). Instead of withdrawing his Motion to Strike, the Personal Representative insisted that it be heard.

Two weeks later, the motion was heard, No testimony was taken and no evidence was adduced during the hearing. (A. 2). The trial court struck the Written Election based on arguments of law. After the calamitous hearing before the trial court, Patsy Williams and her Guardian Ad Litem secured a Pasco County attorney, David R. Gilmore, Esquire ["Gilmore"], who promptly filed a motion for rehearing.

On rehearing, the trial court ruled that the Written Election "did not set forth the statutory requirements", and state that the election was "invalid" because it had been signed by her attorney of record but not by the spouse - - "They simply have to jointly sign" (R. 18). The trial court struck Patsy's Written Election--without leave to amend or to otherwise cure the supposed "defect" in the Written Election. (R. 16, 18).

Review By District Court

The Second District Court of Appeal ["Second District"] affirmed the trial court's decision, holding that the spouse's attorney-of record did not have authority to sign on her behalf and file in a pending probate proceeding a *written* election to take the spouse's elective share. Acknowledging a "split of authority," the district court reasoned that a spouse's attorney-of-record in the pending

probate proceeding, unlike a spouse's attorney-in-fact under a durable power of attorney, had neither ". . . express nor implied authority to make independent decision concerning the disposition of a client's property", (A. 7). The Second District also held that the Written Election was not "**substantively**" an elective share election.

The Second District certified that its decision conflicted with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in In Re: Estate of Schriver, 441 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), which held that an attorney-in-fact had unlimited authority to "exercise" the principal's ~~right~~ to the elective share under section 732.210(2), Florida Statutes, Id. at 1107.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As to Point I. The Second District erred when it affirmed the trial court's striking of Patsy Williams' Written Election, as a matter of law, because the Written Election had not been jointly signed by Patsy Williams' attorney and by Patsy Williams, herself. Sections 732.210 and 732.212, Florida Statutes (1989), do not prescribe the manner or form for the exercise of the spouse's right to an elective share. Rule 5.360 does not require a spouse to personally sign an election. The rule permits the written election, as a "**pleading**", to be signed by the attorney of record (as the spouse's agent) without the personal joinder of the spouse. Rule 2.060(1) of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration also confirms the notion of inherent authority by acknowledging that any act by an attorney of record shall be accepted as the act of the client. In applying the principles of agency, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ["Fifth District"] has held that an attorney of record for a

personal representative may execute, on the personal representative's behalf, objections to laws which are statutorily required to be executed by the personal representative or an interested person. The Fifth District has also held that a surviving spouse's attorney-in-fact (asher agent), may elect the elective share and execute the election on the surviving spouse's behalf. Under the Florida rules and general principles of agency applicable to attorneys of record, an attorney is authorized to sign a written election on behalf of his client.

As to Point 11. The Second District erred when it found the Written Election was not substantively an "election". The supposed defect in the execution of the Written Election and the choice of language in the Written Election were not substantive defects, but defects in form -- which could have been easily corrected by a simple amendment -- as exemplified by the Guardian Ad Litem preparing and filing a Secand Written Election, which ratified Patsy's former election and cured the defects, if any, in it.

As to Point 111. Florida courts have strongly supported the policy of liberality of amendments, whether the claims are filed in civil actions or probate proceedings. The Second District failed to find that the trial court erred by striking the timely filed Written Election without providing Patsy or her guardian ad litem leave to **amend** her election.

As to Point IV. The Second District erred when it found the court-appointed Guardian Ad Litem was not authorized to sign an election. In Edwards v. Edwards, 106 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1985), this Court held a guardian ad litem could execute a dower election. The Guardian Ad Litem's sole purpose was to represent the interest of Patsy Williams, as the surviving spouse, in her deceased husband's estate proceeding. When appointing the Guardian Ad Litem, the trial court placed no limitations on the powers it gave to the Guardian Ad Litem. It was in Patsy's best

interest to have the election executed and filed by the Guardian Ad Litem. Under section 731.302, a guardian ad litem is authorized, to the extent of the interest of the person whom the guardian ad litem represents, to consent to any action or proceeding permitted under the Probate Code. The Guardian Ad Litem consented to Patsy's election to take the elective share, which proceeding is authorized under the Florida Probate Code.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD A WRITTEN ELECTION UNDER SECTIONS 732.210 AND 732.212, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), COULD NOT BE EXECUTED BY THE ATTORNEY OF RECORD OF THE COMPETENT SURVIVING SPOUSE.

No evidence was adduced and no testimony taken at either of the hearings on the personal representatives' motion to strike. The trial court ruled, as a matter of law, that Written Election was "invalid" - not because the election to had not been made by Patsy Williams, but because the written evidence of that decision, Patsy Williams' Written Election, had been signed only by her attorney of record.⁶ (R. 17-18).

⁶ During the rehearing on the Motion to Strike, the trial court made the following ruling:

COURT: It [the "Notice of Intention to Petition for Elective Share"] did not set forth the statutory requirements. It did not. It **was** not signed by an individual who had--the only individual who had an authority to sign that, being either the Guardian Ad Litem for the surviving spouse **or** the surviving spouse herself; that the attorney has no authority to do it, is not a valid

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order-- effectively dismissing with prejudice the surviving spouse's right to her share of her deceased husband's estate.

A supposed **defect in the form** of Patsy's Written Election was permitted to impair her right to receive approximately \$195,000 -- a substantial and manifestly unjust loss to Patsy Williams (and now her estate). See FPR 5.020(a) (defect of form shall not impair substantial rights) and Feather v. Estate of Sanko, 390 So.2d 746, 747 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) ("The thrust of the court should be to **afford** a fair hearing to all rather than insistence on strict compliance with technical rules.")

A review of the Florida statutes and court rules demonstrates that there *is* no reason, at least none prescribed **by** law or court **rule**, why a surviving spouse's attorney of record cannot sign and file on her behalf, **as** her agent, a pleading evidencing her decision to take the elective share. *Cf.*, Epperson v. Rupp, 157 So.2d 537 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1963).⁷ The elective share statutes are silent

petition, and the petition would be invalid. They simply have to jointly sign, and therefore since it was not timely with the law, there is no necessity to file an objection and there was no adversarial proceeding.

(R. 17-18) (emphasis added).

⁷ In Rupp, the attorney for the personal representative signed and filed **an** objection to a creditor's claim against the estate. The claimant then filed a motion to strike the objection because it had not been executed by the personal representative. The trial court denied the claimant's motion to strike and the claimant appealed. In affirming the trial court's order, the appellate court stated:

. . . [T]he appellant has demonstrated no good reason why, either under the statutes of this State or the applicable law, an attorney cannot sign an "objection" to a claim, the same as he may institute a suit for a client without the client's signature [Rule 1.5(a), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, 30 F. S.A.], or file a claim in an estate without the client's signature [§733.16, Fla. Stat., F.S.A.]

Id. at 538.

regarding who must sign a written election.

(a) Who May "Exercise" Right of Election

The elective share statute specifies **who may exercise** the spouse's elective share, i.e., who has the right to choose between taking the devise under the deceased spouse's will or taking an elective **share** in the deceased spouse's probate estate. It provides the "**right of election may be exercised: (1) [b]y the surviving spouse, [or] (2) [b]y a guardian of the property of the surviving spouse**" 6732.210, Fla. Stat. (1989) (emphasis added). The Fifth District expanded that literal statutory prescription in In Re: Estate of Schriver v. Schriver, 441 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983).

In Schriver, the surviving spouse had been left nothing under her deceased husband's will. The surviving spouse appointed her daughter as her attorney-in-fact under Florida's durable family power of attorney statute.⁸ The daughter later exercised her mother's right to **an** elective share and signed, and caused to be filed, on her mother's behalf a pleading evidencing that decision. Id. at 1107. In reversing the trial court's denial of the Wife's elective share, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ["Fifth District"] held that an attorney-in-fact with powers such as those prescribed by statute for attorneys-in-fact of durable family powers, could validly "exercise" the spouse's personal right to an elective share under section 732.210(1),⁹ Florida Statutes (1989).¹⁰ because ". . . the **act** of the

⁸ See 0709.08, Fla. Stat. (1981).

⁹ Hereafter all references to sections shall be to a section of the Florida Statutes (1989) unless otherwise stated.

¹⁰ Section 732.210(1) authorizes the surviving spouse (not the guardian) to exercise the right of election. In Schriver the appellate court analogize an attorney-in-fact to a guardian. It reviewed the exercise of the statutory power by **a** guardian of the property under section 732.210(2) , **but found** it mare appropriate to find that the exercise of the power by the attorney-in-fact fell under section 732.210(1). In

[attorney-in-fact] is the act of the surviving spouse." *Id.* at 1107 (emphasis in original).

Here, Patsy Williams' attorney of record, as her agent, executed the Written Election evidencing Patsy Williams' decision to take the elective share. There was no evidence that Patsy Williams did not actually decide to **make** the election herself. The district court assumed, without any evidence, that Patsy Williams had not exercised the election simply because she had not signed the Written Election (A. 5-6).

(b) Who May Sign the Written Election?

Prior to the major revision of the Florida Probate Code in 1974, the statutes protecting a widow's share in the husband's estate were not silent regarding who was required to sign the dower election. A widow who desired to take dower was expressly required to **personally execute an "instrument in writing, acknowledged or sworn to by [her] . . ."** §731.35(1), Fla. Stat. (1973) (emphasis added); see also 6731.35, Fla. Stat. (1969). The election in certain instances could be signed personally by the guardian of the widow. See, e.g., 61731.35, Fla. Stat. (1969).

Unlike the antecedent statutes pertaining to dower," section 732.210 does not prescribe the manner in which a spouse's exercise of her right of election must to be evidenced or memorialized. Nor does section 732.210 prescribe how or by

Schrivver the spouse's attorney-in-fact was authorized to act on behalf of the spouse, without the need to appoint a guardian of the person or guardian ad litem.

¹¹ In 1975, the Florida Legislature abolished the surviving wife's right to dower and the surviving husband's right to curtesy, which rights **vested** on the death of the spouse, 8732.111, Fla. Stat. (1976). In place of these nonreciprocal property rights, the Legislature created Florida's version of the gender-neutral statutory elective share process, which provides to a surviving spouse of a decedent domiciled in Florida the right to receive **an** amount equal to thirty percent (30%) of the **fair** market value of the decedent's probatable assets (except real property not located in Florida) after deducting certain claims. 1732.201, 732.206 and 732.207, Fla. Stat. (1989). By exercising the election, the surviving spouse renounces her rights under the will. §732.211, Fla. Stat. (1989).

whom the evidence of the election must be **executed**.

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