IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Appeal No. 79,667 (DCA CASE NO. 91-01723)

WALLACE P. HARMON, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Patsy P. Williams, deceased

Petitioner

٧.

LARRY T. WILLIAMS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of R. Virgil Williams, deceased

Respondent

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH & CUTLER, P.A. One Harbour Place Post Office Box 3239 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 223-7000

Attorney for Respondent Hywel Leonard Florida Bar No. 296376

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

The 20 day period established by the statute and rule is . . extremely short. It is. . certainly not analogous to a statute of limitations period of time or a period of

"nonclaim" . . . The trial court could have granted Feather's motion . . and should have done so under the circumstances. Id, at 747-48.

Here, in contrast, the <u>four month</u> period for filing a timely election is analogous to the nonclaim statutes, <u>Allen v. Guthrie</u>, 469 So. 2d 204. <u>Feather</u> has no relevance to **the** issue of the adequacy of Mr. Bloom's Notice of Intention. Certainly, it presents no direct or express conflict on the same question of law, a condition for jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Constitution.

In <u>Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund v. Lobean</u>, 127

So. 2d 98, 100-01 (Fla. 1961), this Court defined direct conflict

as:

antagonistic principals of law must have been announced . . . based on practically the same facts. The conflict must be obvious . . [It] must result from an application of law to facts which are in essence on all fours, without any issue as to quantum and character of proof.

No so ch conflict exists here. As such, Respondent believes this Court should not even be reviewing the adequacy of Mr. Bloom's notice, recognized as deficient by all three district court judges. While Mr. Harmon may not like the district court's ruling that no timely election was made, it was his delay in obtaining his own appointment as guardian which is the source of his problem. The failure to make a timely election was recognized by the district court and its ruling is not in direct or express conflict with other decisions on the same question of

law. $A\,s$ Mr. Harmon cannot overcome this threshold issue, no further review is needed.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDING THAT THE ELECTION FILED BY THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM WAS UNTIMELY IS CORRECT AND CONFLICTS WITH NO OTHER DECISION

While Mr. Harmon does not contest that his July 9, 1990, election was untimely, he asserts (Petitioner's Point 111) that the Guardian's Election was an "amended election" which related back to the Notice of Intent.

Mr. Harmon's argument, that any defects in the Notice of Intention could have been, and were cured by the Guardian's Election is meritless. Indeed, this "amendment" argument is the fruit of the fertile mind of Mr. Harmon's current counsel. The Guardian's Election (which the district court found was untimely because it was filed well outside the four month period) does not purport to be an amendment, was unaccompanied by a motion to amend, and was never brought to the attention of the probate court. Further, as a guardian's election, it has been rendered moot by the death of Patsy Williams prior to the court's determination that it was in her best interest to elect, In re Estate of Pearson, 192 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966).

Notwithstanding that no request to "amend" was ever made,

Mr. Harmon argues that the probate court erred in granting the

Motion to Strike the Notice of Intention to Petition for Elective

Share without granting leave to "amend" to make an election.

At no time during the consideration of the original motion, the motion for rehearing, or the First Appeal, was any mention ever made of the Guardian's Election, let alone treating it as an "amendment." As stated previously, no copy of the Guardian's Election was received by the attorney for the personal representative. Indeed, on two occasions during the oral argument on the rehearing, counsel for the personal representative expressly stated to the probate court that nothing had been filed by the quardian. These statements were not contradicted in any way by Mr. Harmon's attorney, nor was any request to amend made by the attorney for the Guardian Ad Litem. Not having been raised below, this is not a proper argument to even raise an appeal, Perkins v. Scott, 554 So. 2d 1220 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Myrick v. Smith, 522 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Moreover, even if amendment were allowed, the entire issue would be moot because of Mrs. Williams' intervening death.

Thus, there is no merit to the argument that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to permit the amendment of the earlier so-called "election" filed by Mr. Bloom. Rather, the Court quite properly struck Mr. Bloom's Notice of Intention as an irrelevant item, since it was not an election.

[&]quot;There is nothing in the Court file from either the widow or the guardian of the property" (R. 8); "There is nothing in the file from the widow or from the guardian" (R. 10).

 $^{^{7/}}$ As such, Judge Campbell's dissent, which would allow amendment, ignored the time honored rule that an argument should first be raised at the trial, not the appellate level.

Contrary to Petitioner's argument, Estate of Grist, 83 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 1955) does not present any conflict, and it did not even address any issue relating to the elective share. Rather, it dealt with an amendment to a claim. There, the amended claim was identical to the original, except for the remedy sought, and the original was recognizable as a claim. Here, there was no initial election to amend and, as previously stated, no timely request to amend was made. Again, Mr. Harmon's arguments are without merit and respondent submits that Mr. Harmon has failed to present a basis for this Court to recognize on conflict jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

POINT IV

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT WHEN IT HELD THAT A GUARDIAN-AD-LITEM HAS NO AUTHORITY TO MAKE AN ELECTION AGAINST A WILL. FURTHER, MRS. WILLIAMS' DEATH HAS MOOTED THE ENTIRE ISSUE.

The decision to award the "elective share" following election by a guardian of the surviving spouse is a two-step process. Recognizing the limited power of a guardian of the property to make the election, section 732.210, Florida Statutes, provides:

732.210 Right of election; by whom exercisable.

The right of election may be exercised:

- (1) By the surviving spouse.
- (2) By a guardian of the property of the surviving spouse. The court having jurisdiction of the probate proceeding shall determine the election **as** the best interests of the surviving spouse require.

The same two step process existed for "dower", the predecessor of the elective share. There the law was clear. First, a timely election had to be made by the <u>quardian</u>, then the court had to decide if the election should be allowed. <u>Edwards v. Edwards</u>, 106 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 1958). If the spouse died before the determination was made, the "election" failed. <u>In re</u> <u>Estate of Pearson</u>, 192 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966).

Notwithstanding the clear language of the statute requiring that the election be made by the quardian of the property, Mr. Harmon argues that Edwards v. Edwards, 106 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 1958) permits a quardian ad litem to exercise the personal election. (Petitioner's Point IV). Aside from the fact that this argument conveniently ignores that no timely election was made by any quardian, it also ignores that the statutes involved are worded differently. Edwards construed a statute which allowed "the guardian" to elect for an incompetent widow. § 732.35(2) Fla. Stat. (1957). The present statute now specifies that the "guardian of the property" may elect. § 732.210. Fla. Stat. (1989). Moreover, even if this Court were to accept Mr. Harmon's argument and treat him as a "quardian of the property," the remainder of the ruling in Edwards would render this entire Edwards' central holding was that a guardian's appeal moot. election merely begins the process by which the court determines whether an election would be in the spouse's interest. intervening death of the spouse, prior to such court approval, extinguishes her rights. The same approval procedure applies

today by statute -- a guardian's election has to be approved by the court prior to the ward's death or else it fails.

§ 732.210(2), Fla. Stat.; In re Anderson's Estate, 394 So. 2d
1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

Thus, even if one assumes that the Guardian's Election of July 3, 1990, denominated as his Election Against the Will, was timely and otherwise proper (which it was not), it was, pursuant to §732.210(2) just the first step in a process which required the court to determine whether an election should be made in the best interest of the incompetent surviving space.!' Of course, the probate court made no such determination, nor did Harmon ever seek such a determination. Indeed, as previously noted, the issue of the validity of the Guardian's Election has been raised for the first time in the second appeal. The intervening death of Patsy P. Williams in November 1989 has mooted the entire issue of an election. The reason is simple -- the elective share is intended to provide for the surviving spouse, not to augment the surviving spouse's estate for the benefit of her heirs. Pearson's Estate, 192 So. 2d 89, (Fla. 2d DCA 1966); <u>In re</u> Anderson's Estate, 394 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

While <u>Pearson</u> dealt with the elective share's predecessor, dower, its ruling resolves the issues raised here. There, the surviving spouse was left nothing under the will of her **deceased** husband. She was adjudicated mentally incompetent shortly after

On rehearing, Mr. Harmon's earlier counsel even made reference to the statutory requirement that the Court determine whether the election was in the spouse's best interest. (R. 12).

his death, and her guardian filed an election of dower on her behalf. Prior to the court's action on the guardian's petition for assignment of dower, the widow died. Her executor sought to proceed to obtain dower, which was denied. On appeal the district court affirmed, noting that the guardian's "election" is not an election but merely the initiating instrument requesting that the court elect⁹ and stated, at page 92:

It must be remembered that the purpose for dower is to insure ample provision for the widow's personal needs and comfort. When the widow dies no like purposes remains. If a competent widow dies before electing, such right to elect dies with her . . . If an incompetent widow dies, and her election through her guardian has not been ruled upon, her election is null and void since the guardian's power terminates at the ward's death, 15 Fla. Jur. Guardian and Ward Section 36, and so does the power of the court to act in her place.

Here, the lower court never determined that election was in the best interest of her deceased Patsy P. Williams, and, in fact, her guardian (and heir) never even sought such a determination. The issue of her elective share is now moot because the purpose of that provision is not to augment Mrs. Williams' estate for Mr. Harmon's benefit. Anderson is to the same effect, expressly applying Pearson to the elective share procedure.

The same procedure is followed under section 732.210(2), Florida Statutes.

POINT V

IN ANY EVENT, JUDGE THREADGILL'S VIEW THAT MR. BLOOM COULD NOT EXECUTE AN EXECUTION FOR MRS. WILLIAMS WAS CORRECT

This entire appeal is based on Mr. Harmon's fallacious argument that Patsy Williams decided that it was in her best interest to elect to take the elective share. Of course, no record support is cited for this statement, and its falsity is starkly revealed by the letter of her attending physician which Mr. Bloom filed with the probate court. The doctor stated he had known Patsy Williams for several years and that she was already mentally incompetent when he first met her -- how long before that he could not say. Mr. Harmon's response is to ignore this letter which, after all, was the basis for his appointment as guardian-ad-litem. However, once the "question" about Mrs. Williams "competence" is even considered, the fundamental flaws in Mr. Harmon's points on appeal become all the more obvious.

In presenting his argument on who may exercise and execute the election, Mr. Harmon ignores that the document filed by Mr. Bloom was not an election, but instead stated that Mr. Bloom would file a <u>petition</u>. Florida has recognized the significant distinction between the election itself, which is personal to the surviving spouse or guardian of the property (§ 732.210 Fla. Stat.) and the petition to determine the extent of the spouse's share, which is a "mechanical" procedure, once the valid election

[&]quot;Shortly after her husband's **estate** administration began Patsy Williams decided that it was in her best interest to elect to take the elective share (Pet'r Br., at 3).

is exercised, <u>Smail v. Hutchins</u>, 491 **So.** 2d 301 (Fla. **3d** DCA 1986). Indeed, this simple distinction may explain Mr. Bloom's actions. He knew well that he had to have the guardian make the timely election on Mrs. Williams' behalf **because**, as was obvious from the Petition to Appoint the Guardian, **she could** not **do so** herself. However, no timely action was taken. If Mr. Harmon thought otherwise, he would not have sought his own appointment as guardian. Of course, in advancing his argument, Harmon is forced to both assert, but at the same time, disavow Mr. Bloom's authority. He relies on Mr. Bloom's "authority" to execute the "election" yet disavows the significance of Mr. Bloom's uncontested request for the appointment of a guardian, based on Mrs. Williams' incompetence. He cannot have **it** both ways.

Judge Threadgill chose not to address Mrs. Williams competency, but to "presume" it (A. 4). Instead, he relied on the text of section 732.210, Florida Statutes, " Smail v. Hutchins, 491 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), and other authority such as an Annotation, Election by Spouse to Take Under or Against Will as Exercisable by Agent or Personal Representative, 83 A.L.R.2d 1077 (1962), to support his conclusion that the election is personal to the spouse or her guardian, and could not be executed by a lawyer claiming to act for her (A. 6-7). He was correct as a matter of law. Judge Parker saw no need to resolve this issue but noted that even The Florida Bar's Form for an

 $^{^{11/}}$ Fla. Stat. § 732.210 provides that the election may be made by either the surviving spouse or the guardian of the property of the surviving spouse.

election provides "a separate signature line for the surviving spouse" (A. 9 n.3).

Respondent has cited no authority directly on point, which allows an attorney either to exercise or execute the statutory election. Of course, Mr. Harmon's earlier noted incomplete and so misleading quotation from the Uniform Probate Code 121 does not support his position, because it would require express written authorization by Mrs. Williams to Mr. Bloom in the form of a power of attorney.

Finally, no conflict exists with <u>Johnson v. Estate of</u>

<u>Fraedrich</u>, 472 So. 2d 1266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), where the Court agreed that a personal representative's attorney could file an objection to a claim on behalf of the personal representative. The statutory provision involved (§ 733.705, Fla. Stat.) provided that "a personal representative or other interested person may file an objection to a claim.". The district court rejected the argument that the personal representative had to "make" the objection. The **clear** distinction with this case is that <u>Fraedrich</u> involved no "personal right" and the filing of the objection was much like the "mechanical" filing of the petition to determine the extent of the elective share, a distinction drawn in <u>Smail</u>, 491 So. 2d 301.

Discussed in detail at page 16 of this **brief.**

CONCLUSION

Notwithstanding the district court's unusual certification of conflict, this court does not have jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida

Constitution. No direct conflict exists on a dispositive issue.

The so-called "election" made by Mr. Bloom was not, on its face, an election, whether or not it was authorized by the incompetent Mrs. Williams. The later election by the guardian ad litem was untimely i.e., well outside the four month period required by Section 732.212, Florida Statutes and, further, the guardian's election was not executed by the "guardian of the property" as required by Section 732.210, Florida Statutes.

Lastly, Mr. Harmon's "amendment" theory fails for two reasons. First, there was no earlier election to be amended and second, he never sought to amend, belatedly raising the issue only on his second appeal.

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